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Attorneys For Plaintiffs 
 
 
 
 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 

TAMMY DAVIS, TANEKA 

McNEIL; MARQUIETA R McNEIL 

  Plaintiff, 

 vs. 

CITY OF NATIONAL CITY, 

MANUEL RODRIGUEZ JOSEPH B 

CAMACHO, GIOVANNI A 

CORADO, GONZALEZ, DENNIS J 

LEACH, ROBERT A RUDE, CHAD 

RYUMA SAKAMOTO, MARK D 

SEGAL, SHERIFF DEPUTY 

BENNER, SHERIFF DEPUTY DE 

LA TORRE, SHERIFF DEPUTY 

FRANTZ, SHERIFF DEPUTY 

KRIEG, SHERIFF DEPUTY 

KURTZ, SHERIFF DEPUTY 

PALMER, SHERIFF DEPUTY 

SEABRON, SHERIFF DEPUTY 

SISTO1, AND DOES 1 THROUGH 

30 INCLUSIVE, 

  Defendants 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
 

Case No.:  
 

COMPLAINT 

 

1. DEPRIVATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS (42 

U.S.C. § 1983);  2. DEPRIVATION OF 

CIVIL RIGHTS - FAILURE TO PROVIDE 

MEDICAL CARE (42 U.S.C. § 1983);  3. 

SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS (42 U.S.C. 

§ 1983); 4. DEPRIVATION OF CIVIL 

RIGHTS – FAILURE TO SUPERVISE, 

TRAIN AND TAKE CORRECTIVE 

MEASURES CAUSING 

CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATIONS (42 

U.S.C. § 1983);  5. DEPRIVATION OF 

CIVIL RIGHTS – MONELL VIOLATIONS 

(42 U.S.C. § 1983); 6. VIOLATION OF 

STATE CIVIL RIGHTS (UNDER 

CALIFORNIA CIVIL CODE §43, §52 and 

§52.1) 

 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 
                                                                 
1 All named San Diego Sheriff Deputies were involved in SDSD Case No. 18-127114 at the San Diego 

County Central Jail 
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COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES 

TO ALL INTERESTED PARTIES AND THEIR ATTORNEYS OF RECORD: 

COMES NOW PLAINTIFFS, TAMMY DAVIS, TANEKA McNEIL; 

MARQUIETA R McNEIL (collectively “Plaintiffs”), individually and as successor(s) in 

interest to Decedent Earl McNeil, and allege in their Complaint against defendants 

NATIONAL CITY, NATIONAL CITY POLICE CHIEF MANUEL RODRIGUEZ 

(hereinafter also referred to “RODRIGUEZ”), National City Police Officer JOSEPH B 

CAMACHO (hereinafter also referred to “CAMACHO”), National City Police Officer 

GIOVANNI A CORADO (hereinafter also referred to “CORADO”), National City 

Police Officer GONZALEZ (hereinafter also referred to “GONZALEZ”), National City 

Police Officer DENNIS J LEACH (hereinafter also referred to “LEACH”), National City 

Police Officer ROBERT A RUDE (hereinafter also referred to “RUDE”), National City 

Police Officer CHAD RYUMA SAKAMOTO (hereinafter also referred to 

“SAKAMOTO”) National City Police Officer MARK D SEGAL (hereinafter also 

referred to “SEGAL”), SHERIFF DEPUTY Benner (hereinafter also referred to 

“Benner”), SHERIFF DEPUTY De La Torre (hereinafter also referred to “De La 

Torre”),  SHERIFF DEPUTY Frantz (hereinafter also referred to “Frantz”), SHERIFF 

DEPUTY Krieg (hereinafter also referred to “Krieg”), SHERIFF DEPUTY Kurtz 

(hereinafter also referred to “Kurtz”), SHERIFF DEPUTY Palmer (hereinafter also 

referred to “Palmer”), SHERIFF DEPUTY Seabron (hereinafter also referred to 

“Seabron”), and SHERIFF DEPUTY Sisto (hereinafter also referred to “Sisto”) and 

DOES 1 through 30, inclusive, (collectively “Defendants”), allege as follows: 

INTRODUCTION  

1. This civil rights action seeks compensatory and punitive damages from 

individual National City Police Officers2, from senior National City Police Department  

(hereinafter also referred to “NCPD”) officials, from National City and from San Diego 

                                                                 
2 National City Police Officers involved in NCPD Case No. 18-02597 
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County Sheriff deputies3,for the violation of fundamental rights under the United States 

Constitution and state law in connection with the brutal and tragic police arrest, torturous 

abuse and killing of EARL McNEIL, (hereinafter also referred to as, “DECEDENT”) on 

May 26, 2018. 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CLAIMS FOR RELIEF  

2. On May 26, 2018, at 5:28 a.m., EARL McNEIL contacted National City 

Police Department (hereinafter referred to as “NCPD”) dispatch using an emergency 

telephone near the front door of the police department. EARL McNEIL asked for someone 

to come out front and said he wanted to turn himself in on a warrant. He said he wanted to 

kill someone and said he was high. EARL McNEIL said he did not know his name and 

hung up the phone. He called back a few moments later and identified himself as Earl 

McNeil. He picked up the phone a total of four times but only spoke to the emergency 

operator twice. He hung up all four calls. His initial activity and calls were recorded by 

fixed video surveillance cameras at NCPD and their dispatch audio system.  Dispatches to 

Defendants included the following information: a description of McNeil including  a 

statement he was African American; he had said he had a warrant and wanted to kill 

people; he kept hanging up the phone; he appeared very agitated; and stated he was high. 

Defendants (two NCPD officers) were the first to contact McNeil at the front of the station 

at 05:32 a.m. He denied calling the police. He agreed to let police check him for weapons. 

The first Defendant National City officer detained McNeil and placed him in handcuffs. 

McNeil became agitated and began yelling and pulling away. When Defendants began a 

pat down search of McNeil for weapons, he lunged toward a railing along the edge of the 

landing that drops down onto hard, rocky landscape. McNeil was taken to the ground by 

the Defendants (National City police officers) and detained for being possibly under the 

influence of a controlled substance. McNeil was perspiring in spite of the cool weather. 

Defendants (National City police officers) knew prisoner Earl McNeil needed immediate 

medical care and Defendants  failed to take reasonable action to summon such medical 

                                                                 
3 San Diego Sheriff Deputies involved in SDSD Case No. 18-127114 at the County Jail 
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care from the time of DECEDENT’s arrest and detention for the next two hours until 

07:28 a.m. 

3. Additional Defendants arrived and piled on holding EARL McNEIL down on 

the ground. McNeil said he was "crazy" and then said he was "not crazy". He said he had a 

warrant, had "dope" in his pocket, tried to reach into his pocket, said he had smoked the 

"dope", and said to the officers, “[Y]ou're not the police”. Defendants decided to utilize the 

WRAP that is a restraint system  that fixes the detainee in a seated upright position, with 

his feet stretched out straight in front of him and his hands handcuffed behind his back. A 

baggie containing methamphetamine (1.8 grams) was retrieved from McNeil's right front 

pants pocket and a knife was removed from his front left pants pocket. When McNeil was 

addressed using his first name and told to stop reaching for his pocket, McNeil said, 

"Who's Earl?" 

4. For a brief period, Mr. McNeil stopped yelling and was calm. While the 

WRAP was being affixed, Defendants placed a surgical mask with medical-grade fabric 

and mesh protective sock over his head; DECEDENT’s teeth were ground on the cement 

injuring his mouth; McNeil continued to yell, repeatedly saying he could not breathe and 

that the Defendants were killing him; and McNeil continued to make statements about 

having a seizure and being unable to breathe. Once DECEDENT was in the wrap and 

protective sock, Defendants’ continuing actions caused DECEDENT’s death from  

respiratory compromise and brain damage from lack of oxygen, by: (1) Defendants failure 

to reasonably summon medical care for nearly 2 hours while Defendants knew EARL 

MCNEIL need for immediate medical care, (2) placing objects over DECEDENT’S mouth 

and nose, and (3) positioning of DECEDENT so as to cause respiratory compromise and 

brain damage. Defendants intentionally and recklessly (1) delayed the medical treat of 

DECEDENT necessary to prevent respiratory compromise and brain damage from lack of 

oxygen book (2) caused DECEDENT’S physical distress to worsen and deteriorate and (3) 

prevented DECEDENT’S booking into the San Diego Central Jail (“SDCJ”). 
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5. Once Mr. McNeil was secured in the WRAP, he was placed on his side 

briefly and hit his head on the pavement. He spat blood and saliva through the spit sock. 

McNeil stated, "Take me to jail. l killed somebody." Defendants (four National City 

officers) carried McNeil to a patrol SUV and placed him in the back. While being carried, 

he yelled that he was being kidnapped by the Mexican Mafia and the officers were going 

to sell him. Fifteen minutes elapsed from the officers' first contact with McNeil, until he 

was secured in the back of the police SUV at 05:47 a.m. 

6. McNeil was then driven to a holding facility in the National City Police 

Station. Due to his behavior, he remained in the vehicle with the window partially down 

and the air conditioning on for approximately one hour and fourteen minutes, while an 

officer completed paperwork. Defendants involved in the initial contact had body worn 

camera's (BWC' s) running during their encounter with McNeil. 

7. Defendants (two National City police officers) drove DECEDENT McNeil at 

07:05 a.m. During the eight-minute ride, DECEDENT McNeil’s head struck numerous 

times against the plexiglass partition separating the back seat from the officers. 

DECEDENT McNeil screamed “help”, but Defendants told DECEDENT McNeil if he 

could speak, he could breath. DECEDENT McNeil said he was suicidal and needed to see 

a doctor. During that transport and upon arrival at SDCJ, DECEDENT McNeil shouted 

"help" repeatedly and appeared to have seizures several times.  

8. Upon arrival at San Diego Central Jail (“SDCJ”) Defendants removed 

DECEDENT McNeil from the back of the SUV when Defendants (National City police 

and jail deputies) placed him on a gurney and placed a second spit sock over the first spit 

sock by the deputies. DECEDENT McNeil then thrashed from side to side so that his 

upper body was hanging off the side of the gurney. The deputies released the chest to 

ankle strap of the WRAP so DECEDENT McNeil could lie flat on his stomach on the 

gurney while the jail nurse began to examine him at 07:18 a.m. The jail nurse evaluated 

DECEDENT McNeil, who remained in an agitated state throughout the evaluation and 

continued to yell and scream. The jail nurse noted signs of the potential excited delirium, 
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as he was sweating profusely, had an elevated temperature of 100°F, and a rapid pulse of 

120 beats per minute. His respiration was abnormal 22 breaths per minute. DECEDENT 

McNeil continued to move back and forth. He stated he was homicidal and suicidal. He 

said he wanted to see a doctor. DECEDENT McNeil repeatedly said "ouch" when the 

nurse touched his head, The jail nurse, in consultation with Sheriff's staff, declined to 

admit DECEDENT McNeil to jail and instead referred him for a medical evaluation and a 

psychiatric evaluation at 07:26 a.m. The call for paramedics was made by NCPD dispatch 

in response to a cell phone call from Defendants (NCPD officer). Fire Department records 

show receipt of the call from NCPD dispatch at 07:28 a.m. DECEDENT McNeil 

continued to spit through the two spit socks, which had become saturated with bodily 

fluids. One of the Defendant deputies pulled the collar of DECEDENT McNeil's t-shirt up 

and held it up in front of McNeil's face to shield the deputies from further contact with his 

bodily fluids. DECEDENT McNeil bit on the shirt.  

9. San Diego Fire Department Paramedics arrived at 07:34 a.m. Approximately 

30 seconds before the paramedics arrived, DECEDENT McNeil quieted down. He 

continued to grunt and grumble. The spit socks were removed to check for vital signs. 

DECEDENT McNeil was growling and moving his head from side to side as he was 

transferred to the paramedic gurney. When DECEDENT was taken inside the ambulance 

at 07:37 a.m. DECEDENT McNeil then became more lethargic and had a weak carotid 

pulse. After sustaining great pain, suffering and anguish without medical care and after 

less than six minutes in the ambulance, paramedics determined DECEDENT McNeil had 

stopped breathing and his heart stopped beating. He was removed from the ambulance 

immediately, taken out of the WRAP, handcuffs were removed and CPR was started; 

moved back into the ambulance and taken to UCSD hospital. The paramedics left SDCJ 

for UCSD hospital at 07:53 a.m. Upon arrival to the Emergency Department. the 

DECEDENT was in pulseless electrical activity and was intubated. Diagnostic imaging 

revealed an anoxic brain injury. His condition continued to decline until his death 16 days 

later at UCSD hospital on June 11, 2018. 
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10. Defendants failed to train subordinates and to receive training for The Wrap 

restraint system [see The Wrap Basic Application Manual, attached Exhibit 1] and inter 

alia, follow the “Precaution 2” for the Wrap: 

Precaution 2 – Medical Attention: 

If a restrained subject complains of or exhibits any medical concerns, seek 

immediate medical attention. Medical treatment can be provided while the 

subject is restrained in The WRAP. 

Examples of health concerns are: 

• Respiratory Distress (i.e. coughing, gasping, gagging, shortness of breath) 

• Sudden quiet or inactivity (especially after a violent struggle) 

• Chest pains, shooting pains down the arm 

• Change in facial color 

• Elevated body temperature (I'm burning up!) 

• Vomiting 

• Suspected drug behavior 

• Sweating profusely 

11.  Defendants and law enforcement in San Diego County and throughout 

California knew for years prior to 2018 that: 

•  methamphetamine deaths had exceeded opiate deaths,  

• increased physical exertion caused by struggling with the officers and against his 

physical restraints (i.e. the WRAP and handcuffs) was consistent with 

DECEDENT’s methamphetamine use, 

• Both methamphetamine use along with physical exertion increased the demand 

for oxygen causing a higher pulse rate and respiration,  

• Medical treatment for Methamphetamine overdose required giving fluids through 

an IV, monitoring your heart rate and medications to slow blood pressure and 

ease anxiety. 
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12. EARL McNEIL died as a direct result of the DEFENDANTS’ actions that  

caused Decedent’s respiratory compromise, brain damage from lack of oxygen, and 

DEFENDANTS’ failure to timely summon medical care. His death was “at the hands of 

another,” therefore, the manner of death was listed as “homicide.” 

13. DEFENDANTS ACTED with specific intent to cause serious bodily injury 

upon Decedent EARL McNEIL, and,  to intentionally violate his civil rights.  

14. Defendant NATIONAL CITY, National City Police Chief Defendant 

MANUEL RODRIGUEZ and DOES 1 through 20 also proximately caused 

DECEDENT’s death and Plaintiff’s injuries and are liable under state law and under 

principles set forth in Monell v. Department of Social Services, 436 U.S. 658 (1978), by 

failing, inter alia, to train DEFENDANTS how to use the Wrap and to timely summon 

medical care immediate for civilians in need of medical care. 

15. The policies and customs behind the detentions of civilians in need of 

immediate medical care and Defendants’ failure to take reasonable action to summon such 

medical care as in the when DEFENDANTS arrested and held EARL MCNEIL for nearly 

for two hours before paramedics arrived at SDCP, are fundamentally unconstitutional, 

illegal under state law and constitute a menace of major proportions to the public.  

16. Accordingly, insofar as Plaintiffs herein seek by means of this civil rights 

action to hold accountable those responsible for the killing of EARL MCNEIL and to 

challenge the NATIONAL CITY’s unconstitutional policies and practices, this civil rights 

action is imperatively in the public interest.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE  

17. Plaintiffs assert claims for relief arising under, and for violations of  the 

following laws: (a) Federal Civil Rights Act under 42 U.S.C. Sections 1983, 1985, 1986, 

and 1988; (b) Monell v. Department of Social Services; (c) The Fourth Amendment of the 

United States Constitution; (d) The Fourteenth Amendment of the United States 

Constitution; (e) Equal Protection Clause and Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment 

of the United States Constitution.  
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18. Plaintiffs assert claims for relief arising under, and for violations of, the 

following laws: (a) The Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. 

19. The jurisdiction of this Court is, therefore, founded on Federal Question 

Jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Section 1331.  

20. This is an action to redress the deprivation under color of statute, ordinance, 

regulation, custom or usage of rights, privileges, and immunities secured to the plaintiffs 

by the First, Fourth, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United 

States (42 U.S.C. Section 1983). 

21. Jurisdiction is founded upon 28 U.S.C. Sections 1331 and 1343(3) and (4), 

this being an action authorized by law to redress the deprivation under color of law, 

statute, ordinance, regulation, custom and usage of rights, privileges, and immunities 

secured to a plaintiff by the First, Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution 

of the United States.  

22. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. Section 1391(b), because 

defendants reside in, and in all incidents, events, and occurrences giving rise to this action 

occurred in the County of San Diego, California.  

PARTIES 

23. EARL McNEIL, up until his death on June 11, 2018 was a resident of San 

Diego County during all times relevant hereto.  

24. Plaintiffs maintain the present action for themselves individually and as heirs 

at law and successors in interest to the estate of EARL McNEIL, including those for 

violation of DECEDENT’s civil rights and for the state law claims for relief enumerated 

herein.  

25. Plaintiffs are the next of kin and heirs of the deceased EARL McNEIL. They 

bring these claims in their individual capacity for deprivation of their Constitutional rights.    

26. At all relevant times, Defendant NATIONAL CITY, and its police’s 

department is and was a duly organized public entity and existing under the laws of the 

state of California. Furthermore, at all relevant times, NATIONAL CITY POLICE 
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Department, (hereinafter also referred to as “NCPD”), was an agency of the defendant 

NATIONAL CITY.  Plaintiffs are informed and believe and thereon allege that 

Defendants NATIONAL CITY and NCPD were the employers of defendants 

RODRIGUEZ, CAMACHO, CORADO, GONZALEZ, LEACH, RUDE, 

SAKAMOTO and SEGAL and Defendants DOES 1 through 20.     

27. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and thereon allege, that Defendants 

RODRIGUEZ, CAMACHO, CORADO, GONZALEZ, LEACH, RUDE, 

SAKAMOTO and SEGAL and Defendants DOES 1 through 20, are, and at all times 

herein mentioned were, duly appointed and acting as police officers for NATIONAL 

CITY and NCPD and were at all material times acting under color of state of law, and as 

employees, agents and representatives of every other Defendant. Defendants 

RODRIGUEZ, CAMACHO, CORADO, GONZALEZ, LEACH, RUDE, 

SAKAMOTO and SEGAL and Defendants DOES 1 through 20 were acting under color 

of law and within the course and scope of their employment, including but not limited to 

under California Government Code Sections 815.2, 820, and 825, with Defendant 

NATIONAL CITY and NCPD on May 26, 2018, the date of the incident and Defendants 

NATIONAL CITY, RODRIGUEZ, CAMACHO, CORADO, GONZALEZ, LEACH, 

RUDE, SAKAMOTO and SEGAL and Defendants DOES 1 through 20 are legally 

responsible for all damages caused by the intentional conduct of Defendants 

RODRIGUEZ, CAMACHO, CORADO, GONZALEZ, LEACH, RUDE, 

SAKAMOTO and SEGAL and Defendants DOES 1 through 20 as alleged herein.   

28. At all relevant times mentioned herein, Defendants BENNER, DE LA 

TORRE, FRANTZ, KRIEG, KURTZ, PALMER, SEABRON, AND SISTO, and 

Defendants DOES 21 through 30 were  acting within the course and scope of their 

employment and under color of law as a sheriff deputy of the San Diego County and San 

Diego Sheriff Department (hereinafter referred to as “SDSD”), and were authorized by the 

San Diego County to perform the duties and responsibilities of a sworn sheriff deputies 

and all acts hereinafter complained of were performed by them within the course and 
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scope of his duties as a sheriff deputy, officer and official. Defendants BENNER, DE LA 

TORRE, FRANTZ, KRIEG, KURTZ, PALMER, SEABRON, AND SISTO and 

Defendants DOES 21 through 30 are sued herein in their individual capacity and in their 

official capacity as a sheriff deputy and/or as other employee of San Diego County.  

29. At all relevant times hereto, DEFFENDANTS and Defendants DOES 1 

through 30, and each of them, were acting within the course and scope of their 

employment and under color of law as law enforcement officers, and/or civilian employees 

of the NCPD, a department and/or subdivision of Defendant NATIONAL CITY, and at all 

times were acting with permission and consent of their co-Defendants. DEFENDANTS, 

and each of them, were specifically authorized by Defendant NATIONAL CITY, NCPD , 

San Diego County and/or the SDSD to perform the duties and responsibilities of sworn 

police officers and/or deputies of and for Defendant NATIONAL CITY, NCPD , and/or 

San Diego County, and all acts hereinafter complained of were performed by them within 

the course and scope of their duties as police officers, deputies, and officials, and are 

herein sued in their individual capacities and in their official capacities as police officers, 

deputies, sergeants, captain, commanders, supervisors, policy makers and/or as other 

employees of Defendant NATIONAL CITY, NCPD , and/or San Diego County. 

DEFENDANTS, and each of them, at all times relevant hereto, were acting under color of 

law, under the color of the statutes, ordinances, regulation, policies, customs, practices and 

usages of Defendant NATIONAL CITY, NCPD , and/or San Diego County.  

30. Defendants, NATIONAL CITY, RODRIGUEZ, CAMACHO, CORADO, 

GONZALEZ, LEACH, RUDE, SAKAMOTO and SEGAL and Defendants DOES 1 

through 20 and the NCPD encouraged, assisted, ratified and/or with deliberate indifference 

failed to prevent all of the herein acts and omissions of DEFENDANTS, and each of them. 

31. At all relevant times herein, Defendant RODRIGUEZ, and DOES 1 through 

20  were supervisors, employees and/or policy makers for Defendants and NATIONAL 

CITY, which employed unlawful, organized and illegal customs and practices of failure to 

summon medical care, use of unreasonable and/or excessive force and false arrests which 
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lacked probable cause. Said misconduct was encouraged, tolerated and condoned by 

Defendants, and each of them.  

32. At all relevant times to the present complaint, Defendants DOES 1 through 

20, inclusive, were acting within their capacity as employees, agents, representatives and 

servants of Defendant NATIONAL CITY which is liable under the doctrine of respondeat 

superior, pursuant to Sections 815.2, 820 and 825 of the California Government Code, et 

al.  

33. This egregious in-custody death of EARL McNEIL has sparked outrage in the 

community and multiple protests organized by the community have occurred against 

DEFENDANTS and DOES 1 through 30.   

34. The use of force against decedent EARL MCNEIL was excessive and 

objectively unreasonable under the circumstances, especially because at all relevant times 

DEFENDANTS knew prisoner EARL MCNEIL needed immediate medical care; 

DEFENDANTS intentionally failed to summon such medical care and DEFENDANTS 

prevented DECEDENT’S booking into the San Diego Central Jail (“SDCJ”) where Deputy 

Sheriffs could summon immediate medical care. 

35. After being arrested and restrained in the Wrap and handcuffs, EARL 

MCNEIL was immobile, his breathing compromised, and in obvious and critical need of 

emergency medical care and treatment. DEFENDANTS did not timely summon medical 

care or permit medical personnel to treat EARL MCNEIL. This delay of medical care to 

DECEDENT EARL McNEIL caused EARL McNEIL suffering, extreme physical pain 

and emotional pain and was a substantial cause of EARL McNeil’s death and violation of 

his civil rights.   

36. As a direct and proximate result of the aforementioned acts of 

DEFENDANTS and Doe 1 through 30, and each of them, EARL McNEIL suffered the 

following injuries and damages which are recoverable by Plaintiffs under the Federal and 

California Civil Rights statutes identified herein:  (a) Violation of his constitutional rights 

under the Fourth, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution to be 
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free from unreasonable search and seizure of his person and denial of Equal Protection and 

Due Process of Law; (b) Conscious physical pain, suffering, and emotional trauma; (c) 

Medical bills and expenses and future medical care costs and expenses; (d) Loss of income 

and lost earning capacity; (e) Attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to 42 U.S.C. Section 

1988; and (e) Violations of Constitution of the State of California and the rights secured to 

EARL McNEIL and under California Civil Code §43, §52 and §52.1 and California Gov 

Code §845.6 as herein alleged and described herein. 

37. Plaintiffs submitted a Government tort claim to the Defendants on November 

26, 2018, Said claim was returned by the Defendant NATIONAL CITY on January 7, 

2019 as deemed denied by operation of law. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF DEPRIVATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS FOR 

UNREASONABLE SEARCH AND SEIZURE & EXCESSIVE FORCE (42 U.S.C. § 

1983); (By Plaintiffs against DEFENDANTS and DOES 1 through 30, inclusive) 

38. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege each and every allegation in paragraphs 1 

through 37 of this Complaint with the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein.  

39. The unjustified restraint of decedent by DEFENDANTS deprived EARL 

MCNEIL of his rights, privileges, and immunities secured by the Constitution and laws of 

the United States, including those secured by the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to 

the Constitution  by among other acts, subjecting EARL MCNEIL to excessive force AND 

restraint and ultimately deadly force where no force was necessary. As stated herein, 

Decedent EARL MCNEIL and Plaintiffs, as citizens and individuals, are protected by the 

laws and Constitution of the State of California, as well as those of the United States, 

including the First, Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments thereto of the United States 

Constitution, the right of privacy under the California Constitution and the rights secured 

to person Plaintiffs under Civil Code §52 and §52.1 as herein alleged and were subjected 

to Defendants further violations of their right as described herein. 

40. EARL MCNEIL’s death was a direct and proximate result of the 

aforementioned violation of rights conferred by the United States Constitution and the 
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wrongful acts and omissions perpetrated by DEFENDANTS while acting under the color 

of law and pursuant to customs, policies, and/or procedures in violations of 42 U.S.C. 

Section 1983.  

41. This use of deadly force (restricted breathing and failure to provide medical 

care) was excessive and unreasonable under the circumstances. DEFENDANTS’ actions 

thus deprived EARL MCNEIL of his right to be free from unreasonable searches and 

seizures under the Fourth Amendment and applied to state actors by the Fourteenth 

Amendment. Plaintiffs have been deprived of the life-long love, companionship, comfort, 

support, society, care and sustenance of DECEDENT EARL MCNEIL, and will continue 

to be so deprived for the remainder of their natural lives. Plaintiffs claim funeral and burial 

expenses and loss of financial support.  

42. The conduct of DEFENDANTS was willful, wanton, malicious, and done 

with reckless disregard for the rights and safety of DECEDENT EARL MCNEIL and 

therefore warrants the imposition of exemplary and punitive damages as to DEFENDANT.   

43. DEFENDANTS violated their training by restricting DECEDENT EARL 

MCNEIL’s breathing and failure to provide medical care to the person of  DECEDENT 

EARL MCNEIL.  

44. Plaintiffs bring this claim as DECEDENT EARL MCNEIL’s successors in 

interest, and thereby seeks both survival and wrongful death damages for the violation of 

DECEDENT EARL MCNEIL’s rights.  

45. Plaintiffs also seek attorney’s fees under this claim.   

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF DEPRIVATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS FOR 

FAILURE TO PROVIDE MEDICAL CARE - (42 U.S.C. § 1983); ( By Plaintiffs 

against DEFENDANTS and DOES 1 through 30, inclusive) 

46. Plaintiffs repeats and re-allege each and every allegation in paragraphs 1 

through 45 of this Complaint with the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein.  

47. The denial of medical care by DEFENDANTS and DOES 1 through 30 

deprived of his right to be secure in his person against unreasonable searches and seizures 
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as guaranteed to EARL MCNEIL under the Fourth Amendment of the United States 

Constitution and applied to state actors by the Fourteenth Amendment.  

48. As a result, suffered extreme pain and suffering and eventually suffered a loss 

of life and earning capacity. Plaintiffs have also been deprived of the life-long love, 

companionship, comfort, support, society, care, and sustenance of DECEDENT EARL 

MCNEIL, and will continue to be so deprived for the remainder of their life. Plaintiffs is 

also claiming funeral and burial expenses and a loss of future financial support.  

49. DEFENDANTS  and DOES 1 through 30 knew that failure to provide timely 

medical treatment to could result in further significant injury or the unnecessary and 

wanton infliction of pain, but disregarded that critical medical need, causing great bodily 

harm and death.  

50. The conduct of Defendants and DOES 1 through 30 was willful, wanton, 

malicious, and done with reckless disregard for the rights and safety of DECEDENT 

EARL MCNEIL’s, and therefore warrants the imposition of exemplary and punitive 

damages as to DEFENDANTS and DOES 1 through 30.  

51. Plaintiffs bring this claim as a successors in interest of EARL MCNEIL and 

seeks both survival and wrongful death damages for the violation of DECEDENT EARL 

MCNEIL’s rights.  

52. Plaintiffs also seek attorney’s fees under this claim.  

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF For Substantive Due Process - (42 U.S.C. § 1983)  (By 

all Plaintiffs against Defendants and DOES 1 through 30 , inclusive) 

53. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege each and every allegation in paragraphs 1 

through 52 of this Complaint with the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein.  

54. Plaintiffs had a cognizable interest under the Due Process Clause of the 

Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution to be free from state actions that 

deprive them of life, liberty, or property in such a manner as to shock the conscience, 

including but not limited to unwarranted state interference in Plaintiffs’ familial 

relationship with DECEDENT EARL MCNEIL.  
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55. Plaintiffs had a cognizable interest under the Due Process Clause of the 

Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution to be free from state actions that 

deprive him of his right to life, liberty, or property in such a manner as to shock the 

conscience.   

56. The aforementioned actions of DEFENDANTS and Does 1 Through 30, 

along with other undiscovered conduct, shock the conscience, in that they acted with 

deliberate indifference to the constitutional rights of EARL MCNEIL and Plaintiffs, and 

with purpose to harm unrelated to any legitimate law enforcement objective.  

57. DEFENDANTS and Does 1 Through 30 , thus violated the substantive due 

process rights of Plaintiffs to be free from unwarranted interference with their familial 

relationship with DECEDENT EARL MCNEIL. 

58. As a direct and proximate cause of the acts of DEFENDANTS and Does 1 

through 30 , experienced severe pain and suffering and lost his life and earning capacity. 

Plaintiffs suffered extreme and severe mental anguish and pain and have been injured in 

mind and body.  Plaintiffs have also been deprived of the life-long love, companionship, 

comfort, support, society, care, and sustenance of DECEDENT, and will continue to be so 

deprived for the remainder of their natural lives.  

59. The conduct of DEFENDANTS and Does 1 Through 30 , was willful, 

wanton, malicious, and done with reckless disregard for the rights and safety of 

DECEDENT EARL MCNEIL and Plaintiffs and therefore warrants the imposition of 

exemplary and punitive damages as to DEFENDANTS and Does 1 Through 30 .  

60. Plaintiffs bring this claim in each case individually for deprivation of their 

14th amendment rights. 

61. Plaintiffs also seek attorney’s fees under this claim.  

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF DEPRIVATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS FOR 

FAILURE TO SUPERVISE, TRAIN AND TAKE CORRECTIVE 

MEASURES CAUSING CONSTITUTIONAL VIOLATIONS – (42 USC § 

1983);  (Plaintiffs against DEFENDANTS and DOES 1 through 30 , inclusive) 
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62. Plaintiffs repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation in paragraphs 1 

through 61 of this Complaint with the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein.  

63. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and thereon alleges, DEFENDANTS and 

DOES 1 through 30  knew, or in the exercise of reasonable care should have known, of a 

history and propensity and pattern, prior to and after the time of DECEDENT EARL 

MCNEIL’s May 26, 2018 arrest, the use of excessive force by restricting DECEDENT 

EARL MCNEIL’s breathing and failure to provide medical care to the person of 

DECEDENT EARL MCNEIL by DEFENDANTS (police officers of Defendant 

NATIONAL CITY and NCPD and deputies of the SDSD) including but not limited to 

DEFENDANTS and DOES 1 through 30 , to use excessive force and unreasonable police 

tactics which lead to the unnecessary and unreasonable uses of excessive force, or use 

unreasonable, out of policy or unconstitutional police tactics to investigate police use of 

force incidents.  

64. Notwithstanding this information and history, including but not limited to 

DOES 1 through 30, DEFENDANT NATIONAL CITY AND DEFENDANT 

NATIONAL CITY POLICE CHIEF MANUEL RODRIGUEZ failed to train, 

supervise or discipline deputies who used excessive force, used unreasonable police tactics 

leading to the unnecessary and unreasonable use of excessive force, used unreasonable and 

out of policy unconstitutional police tactics to investigate police use of force incidents, or 

the police department officers were the subject of prior complaint of allegations of similar 

conduct and those who had been the subject of allegations in federal and state courts to 

have violated constitutional rights of others in the course and scope under color of law of 

their capacities as police officers and deputy officers of the NCPD and SDSD.  

65. DEFENDANTS’ and DOES 1 through 30  disregard of this knowledge or 

failure to adequately investigate and discover this pattern, custom or practice of 

unconstitutional violations, or existence of facts which creates the potential of 

unconstitutional acts, violated their duty to supervise, train and instruct their subordinates 
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to prevent similar acts to other person as a result Plaintiffs were harmed in the manner 

threatened by the pattern, custom, or practice.  

66. DEFENDANTS DOES 1 through 30 custom, practice, and policy resulted in 

their failure to take steps to properly train, supervise, investigate or instruct 

DEFENDANTS and DOES 1 through 30  on the use of excessive force, and this was the 

moving force in the use of excessive force upon .  

67. As a legal result of the conduct of Defendants, as described above, Plaintiff 

was damaged as alleged herein and as set forth above.  

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF DEPRIVATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS – 42 USC 

§ 1983 - MONELL VIOLATIONS ( By all Plaintiffs against Defendants 

NATIONAL CITY, NATIONAL CITY POLICE CHIEF MANUEL 

RODRIGUEZ and Does 1 through 30) 

68. Plaintiffs repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation in paragraphs 1 

through 67 of this Complaint with the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein.  

69. The acts and omissions of all DEFENDANTS were engaged in maliciously, 

callously, oppressively, wantonly, recklessly and with deliberate indifference to the rights 

of Plaintiffs and of DECEDENT EARL MCNEIL. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and 

on the basis of such information and belief, allege that Defendant NATIONAL CITY, 

through NCPD and through DEFENDANT NATIONAL CITY POLICE CHIEF 

MANUEL RODRIGUEZ, and Does 1 through 30 with deliberate indifference and 

reckless disregard to the safety, security and constitutional and statutory rights of 

DECEDENT EARL MCNEIL, and all persons similarly situated, maintained, enforced, 

tolerated, permitted, acquiesced in, and applied policies, practices or customs and usages 

of, among other things:  (a) Subjecting citizens to unreasonable uses of force against their 

person, including deadly force and denial to timely summon obvious and critically needed 

emergency medical care or permit medical personnel to treat DECEDENT EARL 

MCNEIL; (b) Selecting, retaining, and assigning officers/deputies with demonstrable 

propensities for excessive force, violence and other misconduct;  (c) Failing to adequately 
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train, supervise, and control officers/deputies in the field of law enforcement, including the 

use of force or to timely summon obvious and critically needed emergency medical care or 

permit medical personnel to treat DECEDENT EARL MCNEIL;  (d) Failing to adequately 

discipline officers/deputies involved in misconduct;  (e) Condoning and encouraging 

officers/deputies in the belief they can violate the rights of persons such as  with impunity, 

and such conduct will not adversely affect their opportunities for promotion and other 

employment benefits;  (f) Initiating, implementing, ratifying, maintaining, enforcing, 

tolerating, permitting, and acquiescing in an illegal “Use and Escalation of Force Policy” 

that does not adequately limit officers’/deputies’ use of force to those cases in which it is 

required to make a lawful arrest or protect an officer or third-party from an immediate 

safety threat; and  (g) Initiating, implementing, ratifying, maintaining, enforcing, 

tolerating, permitting, and acquiescing in an illegal “Use and Escalation of Force Policy” 

that failed to comply with the requirements of the law.   

70. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and on the basis of such information and 

belief alleges, that Defendant NATIONAL CITY, through NCPD and through 

DEFENDANT NATIONAL CITY POLICE CHIEF MANUEL RODRIGUEZ 

ordered, authorized, acquiesced in, tolerated, permitted or maintained customs and usages 

permitting the other DEFENDANTS herein to engage in the unlawful and unconstitutional 

actions, policies, practices and customs or usages set forth in the foregoing paragraph. 

DEFENDANTS’ conduct as alleged herein constitutes a pattern of constitutional violations 

based either on a deliberate plan by DEFENDANTS or on Defendants’ deliberate 

indifference, gross negligence or reckless disregard to the safety, security and rights of 

Plaintiffs and DECEDENT EARL MCNEIL.   

71. As a result of DEFENDANTS’ conduct and each of their violations of 

Plaintiffs’ and DECEDENT EARL MCNEIL’s constitutional rights as set forth herein, 

Plaintiffs were damaged as alleged above.  
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SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION VIOLATION OF STATE CIVIL RIGHTS 

(UNDER CALIFORNIA CIVIL CODE §43, §52 and §52.1) BY ALL 

PLAINTIFFS AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS BY DIRECT LIABILITY 

72. Plaintiffs repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation in paragraphs 1 

through 71 of this Complaint with the same force and effect as if fully set forth herein.  

73. The individual Defendants, and Does 1 through 30, inclusive, are individuals 

who were acting under color of law in investigating pursuant to California law, and 

violated DECEDENT’S rights under the Constitution of the State of California and the 

rights secured to EARL McNEIL and under California Civil Code §52 and §52.1 and 

California Government Code §845.6 as herein alleged and described herein.  

74. As a result of the conduct of Defendants McCANN, ESCAMILLA-HUIDOR, 

WALSH, SALCIDO, PALAFOX, QUINTANILLA, and Does 1 through 10, Inclusive, as 

adopted and incorporated by paragraphs previously set forth herein, said individual 

Defendants and each of them, violated Plaintiffs’ personal and civil rights, including the 

right of protection from bodily restraint or harm, from personal insult, from defamation, 

and from injury to personal relation as set forth in California Civil Code §43, including by, 

but not limited to,  threats, intimidation, or coercion, or attempts thereto, in the exercise 

and enjoyment of Plaintiffs’ rights secured by the United States Constitution, other  

Federal laws, and the Constitution and laws of the State of California and including but not 

limited to, and in violation of Government Code §845.6 by Subjecting citizens to 

unreasonable uses of force against their person, including deadly force and denial to timely 

summon obvious and critically needed emergency medical care or permit medical 

personnel to treat DECEDENT EARL MCNEIL. 

75. The acts of the individual Defendants that are previously alleged in this 

Complaint and incorporated by the references herein to the extent applicable, interfered, or 

attempted to interfere, with the exercise of Plaintiffs’ personal and civil rights under the 

laws and Constitution of the State of California, including the Plaintiffs’ rights of privacy 
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and those rights under Civil Code §43, as well as the laws and the Constitution of the 

United States, as stated herein. 

76. Defendant NATIONAL CITY is vicariously responsible for these 

Defendants’ conduct under Government Code §815.2. 

77. These violations of the Plaintiffs’ personal and civil rights by the individual 

Defendants, and Does 1 through 30, Inclusive, and each of them, are protected and 

guaranteed by California Civil Code §52.1 entitling Plaintiffs to damages and relief, 

including damages under California Civil Code §52, other  equitable relief, punitive 

damages, injunctive relief,  statutory civil penalty (including $25,000.00 as to each 

individual Defendant) and attorneys’ fees, (pursuant to CC §52.1(h)), all of which are 

requested herein. 

78. In doing the acts alleged in this Complaint, the individual Defendants, and 

each of them, knew or should have known, that their actions would, or were likely, to 

injure and damage DEEDENT and Plaintiffs, and Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and 

thereon  allege, that the individual Defendants, and each of them, intended to cause injury 

and damage to DECEDENT, and/or acted with a willful and conscious disregard of 

Plaintiffs’ rights, thus entitling Plaintiffs to recover punitive damages as against said 

individual Defendants. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs requests entry of judgment in 

their favor and against Defendants as follows:  

FIRST, SECOND, THIRD, FOURTH, AND FIFTH CAUSES OF ACTION BY ALL 

PLAINTIFFS AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS: 

A.  For compensatory damages, including both survival damages and wrongful 

death damages under federal and state law, in the amount to be proven at trial;   

B.  For loss of financial support;   

C.  For punitive damages against the defendants in an amount to be proven at trial;   

D.  For interest;   

Case 3:19-cv-00534-BEN-BGS   Document 1   Filed 03/20/19   PageID.21   Page 21 of 37



 

 

  22 

COMPLAINT 
Law Offices of DOUGLAS L. APPLEGATE 

380 South Melrose Dr, Suite 207 
Vista CA 92081 (888-583-2266) 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

E.  For reasonable costs of this suit and attorneys' fees, including pursuant to 42 

U.S.C. Section 1988; and;   

F.  For such further other relief as the Court may deem just, proper, and appropriate.  

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION VIOLATION OF STATE CIVIL RIGHTS (UNDER 

CALIFORNIA CIVIL CODE §43, §52 and §52.1) BY ALL PLAINTIFFS AGAINST 

ALL DEFENDANTS BY DIRECT LIABILITY 

A. General damages including both survival damages and wrongful death 

damages in an amount to be determined by proof at trial. 

B. Medical and related expenses in an amount to be determined by proof at trial. 

C. Punitive damages as against individual defendants only. 

D. Attorney fees, costs, penalties and expenses as authorized by law according to 

proof. 

E. Interest according to law. 

F. Costs of this action. 

G. Any Injunctive and other and further relief that the Court considers proper. 

DATED:  March 20, 2019 

By:/S/  

Douglas L. Applegate 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

Each Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury. 

DATED:  March 20, 2019 

 

By:/S/  

Douglas L. Applegate 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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Introduction 
The WRAP application manual and The WRAP website, www.saferestraints.com, are guides for 
the safe and proper use of The WRAP. They are not intended to replace practical training. The 
application manual provides training steps for the application of The WRAP. The application 
manual is available for download at www.saferestraints.com. The Safe Restraints, Inc. website 
provides additional training materials, including photo illustrations and videos, that provide 
examples of The WRAP in use.   
 
Disclaimer 
The WRAP Safe Restraint System should only be used by persons trained in its safe and proper 
application. Safe Restraints assumes no responsibility for the improper application of The WRAP. 
 
Warranty 
Safe Restraints, Inc. warrants that The WRAP will be free from defects in materials and 
workmanship for a period of 1 year from the date of purchase. If during the warranty period, The 
WRAP is found to be defective because of defects in materials or workmanship, it will be 
repaired or replaced without charge. 
 
Questions? Need Assistance in training or application?  
Please call us at (800) WRAP-911 (972-7911). 
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Training 
Safe Restraints, Inc. strongly recommends that personnel using The WRAP be trained in its use. 
Refer to www.saferestraints.com for proper application and instruction guidelines. 
 
Information and resources available include: 
• Photo illustrations 
• The WRAP training manual 
• Training videos 
• Sample lesson plans  
• Sample policy  
 
These and other included materials are designed to assist agencies in researching and managing 
The WRAP restraint.  
  
Training Options 
To assist customers with any training needs, Safe Restraints, Inc. offers several options. It is 
imperative that trained instructors follow the training guidelines on the website and in this 
manual. 
  
Self/In-house Agency Training 
Training from personnel from within the agency. Safe Restraints, Inc. recommends that 
instructors are qualified instructors in restraints and self-defense. 
 
Internet Self-Training Course 
Internet program by Safe Restraints, Inc. Requires submission of lesson plan and application 
video. Course certificate provided upon completion. Course length 2-4 hours. 
 
Face-to-face Instructors Course 
Safe Restraints, Inc. provides a qualified instructor to teach an Instructors Course at your 
location for your agency. Course certificate provided upon completion. Course length 2-4 hours.  
 
Remote Live Webcam Training 
Safe Restraints, Inc. connects with your agency via live Internet webcam and conducts training 
remotely. Course certificate provided upon completion. Course length 2-4 hours.  
 
The WRAP meets or exceeds known POST and Lexipol training and policy standards guidelines. 
  
For more details, please contact us at www.saferestraints.com or call us at (800) 972-7911.   
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The WRAP Product Overview 
Each model contains a complete system.  
Custom modifications available, contact us for details. 
 

 

 The WRAP – Standard 
• Designed to fit all. 
Complete system includes: 
• Ankle strap.  
• Leg restraint with stainless steel locking buckles. 
• Safety harness with pocket for storing spit masks 

and safety gloves, locking carabiner for securing 
handcuffs, and stainless steel locking buckles. 

• Tactical bag with hands-free shoulder strap. 
   

 

 The WRAP with Soft-Cuffs 
• Designed to fit all. 
Complete system includes: 
• The same parts as standard wrap, but with the 

addition of soft-cuffs located on leg restraint. 
• Primarily used for custodial and/or  

medical care.  
 

   

 

 The WRAP – Small 
• Identical to the standard wrap system, but 

downsized for very small children. 
• Commonly used by juvenile facilities.  
• Each part labeled “SMALL” in red for 

identification. Labels prevent mix-matching at 
facilities that need both sizes. 

  

 

 The WRAP with Soft-Cuffs – Small 
• Identical to The WRAP with Soft-Cuffs, but 

downsized for very small children. 
• Addition of soft-cuffs on leg restraint. 
• Primarily used by juvenile facilities for  

custodial and/or medical care.  
• Each part labeled “SMALL” in red. 
• Labels prevent mix-matching at facilities that 

need both sizes. 
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Standard Application 
The WRAP is typically applied by two to four people. It may need to be applied by more than 
four personnel, depending on the level of resistance encountered. The following illustrations 
show a three-person application. See Application Variations on page 9, for two and four-
personnel application instructions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 STEP 1 – Apply Ankle Strap  

 

Cross the subject’s ankles. 
Apply the ankle strap firmly around the  

crossed ankles. The ankle strap helps control  
and limit movement of the legs. 

 
  

RECOMMENDATION 
Safe Restraints, Inc. strongly recommends 
that the subject be prone, faced down, 
with the hands cuffed behind the subject’s 
back before applying The WRAP.  
 
It is essential to minimize the time the 
subject is restrained face down to reduce 
the possible risks associated with 
respiratory fatigue. 
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 STEP 2 – Position Leg Wrap 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Maintain control of the subject’s upper and lower 
body. 

Slide the leg restraint under the subject’s legs. 
Position the knees on the markings labeled 

“KNEES HERE”.  

Tactical Tips: 
• To slide The WRAP under the subject’s legs more easily, use the carry handle in the ankle 

strap to help lift the legs.  
• If possible, deploy The WRAP from the subject's right side. This positions the three bands for 

easy access.  

 
 STEP 3 – Secure Leg Bands 

 

While maintaining control of the subject, secure 
and tighten the bands.  

Start with the band closest to the feet, moving 
upwards towards the subject’s waist until all 
three bands are secure.  
Securing the band closest to the feet first helps 
prevent the person from kicking.   
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 STEP 4 – Apply Harness 

 

Maintain control of the subject and place the 
harness on the subject’s back.  

The word “BACK” should face upwards.  
Insert handcuffs into the carabiner at the bottom 

of the harness. Carabiner designed for linked or 
hinged handcuffs. 

Lock carabiner by twisting lock until snug. 
Drape the shoulder straps over the person’s head 

so their head is between the two  
yellow straps.  

Tactical Tips: 
• Use storage pocket on back of harness to store spit masks/guards or gloves for quick access. 
• The spit mask can be applied before, during or after The WRAP has been applied. 
 

 
 STEP 5 – Secure the Harness 

 

Supporting the head of the subject, use an 
approved method to roll the subject up to a 
seated position.  

Feed the straps through the arms and attach to the 
locking buckles. This can be done with the 
subject lying on his or her side or in a seated 
position (seated position is easier).  

Secure the straps firmly. 
The security buckles are designed to be released 

with a cuff key or small object like the tip of a 
ballpoint pen by inserting it into the 1/4 inch 
hole on the metal cover and pressing inward. 

Note – Step 5 Pregnancy Exception: 
Persons who are known to be pregnant should be restrained in the least restrictive manner that is 
effective for officer safety. Many states/countries have specific laws or guidelines regarding the 
restraint of pregnant individuals. It is imperative that these guidelines be followed. 
 
 

 STEP 6 – Attach Harness Tether  
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Maintain control of the subject 
Attach the tether lead of the harness to the 

carabiner on the body of The WRAP (located 
below the bottom band by the ankles). 

Lock the carabiner by twisting until snug. 
Pull the tether strap BACK TOWARDS THE 

PERSON’S BODY until the subject is fully 
upright. (Do not over-tighten). This results in 
the harness pulling 4-6" away from the chest for 
full chest expansion. 

The subject is now fully restrained in The WRAP 
and ready to be moved or transported. 

Optional: Once the person is seated upright and 
the harness secured, the person may be placed 
on their side for added safety/security or need 
for medical treatment, unless otherwise directed 
by agency policy.  

 

 
 

Transport 
Whether in the field or a controlled environment, the subject will normally need to be lifted off 
the ground and placed into a patrol car, on a gurney, backboard or wheel chair.  
 

Lifting the restrained subject  

 

Two people should lift the subject under the arms 
while the third person lifts the legs.  

The handle on the ankle strap can be used or 
simply a log-carry position.  

Care should be taken to avoid dropping or 
injuring the subject. 

. 
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Application Variations 
The WRAP is typically applied by two to four people. One person normally controls the upper 
body while the other personnel control the legs and apply the hobble and leg restraint. 
Occasionally the application of The WRAP may require additional personnel, depending on the 
amount of resistance encountered. In that situation, adjust personnel as needed. These tactics are 
suggestions only and may vary due to the resistance encountered or agency policy. 
 

Two-person application     Four-person application 
 
Two-person application differs from three-
person only in regard to control duties.  
• After the subject is handcuffed, one person 

maintains control over the lower body  
while one or both apply the ankle strap  
and leg restraint.  

• Once the legs are secure, personnel can 
proceed with applying the harness. 

 
 

Tactical Tip:  
Coordinating the application of The WRAP among personnel at the scene is critical. The person 
controlling the upper body is usually in the best position to coordinate the application. 
 

Small size models 
The small sizes of The WRAP and The WRAP with Soft-Cuffs are downsized to fit very small 
children. These models are primarily used by juvenile facilities. The application and safety 
guidelines for application are the same as the standard size models of The WRAP unless 
specified by the agency.  

Tactical Tip:  
Each small part, including the bag, is labeled in red to indicate size. Look for the “SMALL” label 
on all pieces to avoid mix matching at facilities that use both sizes. 
  
 

  

• One person controls the upper body. 
• Second person controls the feet.  
• Third and fourth personnel are at each 

side of the subject’s legs, and apply the 
ankle strap and leg restraint. 

• Once the legs are secure, proceed with 
applying the harness. 
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Soft-Cuff System Application 
The WRAP with Soft-Cuffs is designed for agencies where handcuffs are not used or medical 
needs exist for the subject restrained. The WRAP with Soft-Cuffs can also be used in 
conjunction with standard handcuffs. 
 
The soft-cuffs are temporary restraints and do NOT provide the same level of security that 
handcuffs provide. Soft-cuffs should only be used when staff can maintain constant observation 
and physical control of the individual in The WRAP.  
 
The soft-cuffs should be utilized after handcuffs. If only soft-cuffs are needed, personnel should 
control both arms and secure the wrists into the soft-cuffs. A person who is combative and/or is 
making efforts to defeat the soft-cuffs should be placed back in handcuffs when possible.  
 

Application 

 

Release one handcuff and transfer the wrist to the 
soft-cuff, while keeping the second wrist 
handcuffed to the carabiner. 

Transfer the second wrist to the remaining  
soft-cuff. 

Ensure soft cuffs are applied firmly and monitor 
hands for any blood circulation issues. 

Tactical Tip:  
To transfer from soft-cuffs to handcuffs, repeat steps, transferring one hand at a time and attach 
the handcuffs to the carabiner. 
 

Elbow Strap 
The elbow strap is an additional security option, not a requirement. The elbow strap pulls the 
elbows and shoulders back and helps prevent the subject’s hands from possibly reaching the other 
and releasing the soft-cuff. Personnel should evaluate their security needs while adhering to their 
agency’s training policy. 
 

 

Wrap the elbow strap around the upper arms 
above the elbow (like a belt) and secure firmly.  

Tactical Tip: 
Do not over tighten to avoid straining the shoulders or causing any circulation issues.  
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Soft-cuff guidelines: 
• Soft-cuffs should be used for brief periods of time and under direct supervision.  
• Primary use is in custodial settings.  
• Soft-cuffs do not provide the same level of security that handcuffs provide.  
• Soft-cuffs do not have locks. Personnel need to provide immediate supervision.  
 
Examples of soft-cuff use: 
• Medical care such as for blood draw or IV need 
• Need to aid with joint movement for circulation concerns when The WRAP is used for an 

extended period 
• When allowing a person in The WRAP to walk (while supported by personnel) 
• Department requirement/restriction of handcuff use 

Note: 
Typically, the soft-cuffs with the aid of the elbow strap are sufficient for normal restraint.  
Safe Restraints, Inc. takes custom orders for locking soft-cuffs for added security.  
Contact us for a custom order or questions. 

 
Removing The WRAP 
Reverse the application procedure. It may be necessary to ease the tension of the tether strap (the 
strap that connects the harness to the leg wrap) to disconnect from the carabiner on The WRAP. 
To implement, lean the subject forward and either loosen the tether's ring or simply disconnect 
the ring from the carabiner. Unlock the security buckles by inserting a cuff key or small object 
like the top of a ballpoint pen into the 1/4 inch hole on the metal cover and press down. 
 
 

Preparing The WRAP 
The WRAP should be stored properly in the tactical bag so it is ready for the next deployment.  

 
Cleaning 
When needed, clean with soap and water. A small amount of bleach may be added. Air dry. The 
WRAP can also be sanitized through a local crime scene cleaning service. If professional 
cleaning does not prove satisfactory, replacement should be considered. 
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Safe Restraints, Inc. takes custom orders for locking soft-cuffs for added security.  
Contact us for a custom order or questions. 

 
Removing The WRAP 
Reverse the application procedure. It may be necessary to ease the tension of the tether strap (the 
strap that connects the harness to the leg wrap) to disconnect from the carabiner on The WRAP. 
To implement, lean the subject forward and either loosen the tether's ring or simply disconnect 
the ring from the carabiner. Unlock the security buckles by inserting a cuff key or small object 
like the top of a ballpoint pen into the 1/4 inch hole on the metal cover and press down. 
 
 

Preparing The WRAP 
The WRAP should be stored properly in the tactical bag so it is ready for the next deployment.  

 
Cleaning 
When needed, clean with soap and water. A small amount of bleach may be added. Air dry. The 
WRAP can also be sanitized through a local crime scene cleaning service. If professional 
cleaning does not prove satisfactory, replacement should be considered. 
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Precautions 
Precaution 1 - Aspiration: 
Aspiration is possible when in the supine position. 
Applied properly, The WRAP harness does not hinder the subject’s ability to breathe. To 
minimize respiratory issues, personnel need to work quickly so that the subject is secured in one 
of the recovery positions.  

Tactical Tip: 
Quick application of the ankle and leg restraint reduces further risks and allows staff to de-
escalate. Personnel can then assess the person and staff for any immediate medical needs. 
 
Precaution 2 – Medical Attention: 
If a restrained subject complains of or exhibits any medical concerns, seek 
immediate medical attention. Medical treatment can be provided while the 
subject is restrained in The WRAP.  
 
Examples of health concerns are: 
• Respiratory Distress (i.e. coughing, gasping, gagging, shortness of breath) 
• Sudden quiet or inactivity (especially after a violent struggle) 
• Chest pains, shooting pains down the arm 
• Change in facial color 
• Elevated body temperature (I'm burning up!) 
• Vomiting 
• Suspected drug behavior 
• Sweating profusely 
 
Precaution 3 – Harness: 
The shoulder harness should not be tightened to the point that it may 
interfere with the subject's ability to breathe. 
 
General Precautions: 
Subject should be monitored at all times. 
The WRAP is a temporary restraint system designed to provide emergency stabilization. Like all 

restraints, you must assume it is not escape-proof.  
Caution should be taken to avoid any straps getting tangled around the subject’s neck. 
Emergency medical care or evaluation of the subject should be considered in order to reduce 

injuries and the possibility of in-custody death. 
While removing The WRAP, make sure to secure it in an area not accessible to the subject or to 

others in the immediate area. 
After use, follow agency protocol should bodily fluids be present on The WRAP. 
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